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Federal M ne Safety and Health Review Commi ssion (FF.MS. HRC.)
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR, Cl VI L PENALTY PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. LAKE 90-11-M
PETI TI ONER A.C. No. 11-00136-05505
V. Val l ey Plant No. 7

MOLI NE CONSUMERS COMPANY
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appearances: Rafael Alvarez, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U.S. Departnent of Labor, Chicago, Illinois, for
the Petitioner;

James R Papenhausen, Safety Director, Mline
Consuners Conpany, Moline, Illinois, for the
Respondent .

Bef ore: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

This is a civil penalty proceeding initiated by the
petitioner against the respondent pursuant to section 110(a) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
820(a). Petitioner seeks a civil penalty assessnment in the anmount
of $160 for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard 30
C.F.R 0 56.14107. The respondent filed a tinmely answer
contesting the alleged violation, and a hearing was held in

Moline, Illinois. The parties were given an opportunity to file
posthearing briefs. The Petitioner opted not to file a brief, but
the respondent filed a letter stating its position. | have

considered this argunent, as well as the argunents nmade by the
parties during the hearing in ny adjudication of this matter

| ssues

The issues presented in this proceeding are (1) whether the
respondent violated the cited mandatory safety standard, and if
so, (2) the appropriate civil penalty to be assessed pursuant to
the civil penalty assessnent criteria found in section 110(i) of
the Act. Additional issues raised by the parties are identified
and di sposed of in the course of this decision
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Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U. S.C.
0 301, et seq

2. Sections 110(a) and 110(i) of the Act.

3. Conmission Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1, et seq.
Stipul ati ons

The parties stipulated to the followi ng (Exhibit ALJ-1):

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Comni ssi on has
jurisdiction over these proceedings.

2. Respondent's operation affects interstate conmerce.
3. The Valley Quarry does not ship out of Illinois.
4. Respondent owns and operates the Valley Plant No. 7.

5. The Valley Plant No. 7 extracts |inmestone which is
crushed and broken.

6. Respondent worked 16,097 nanhours from Oct ober 16, 1988
t hrough October 16, 1989 at the Valley Plant No. 7.

7. Respondent worked 430,086 manhours from Cctober 16, 1988
t hrough Cctober 16, 1989 at all of its mnes.

8. Mdline Consunmers Conpany is a corporation.

9. Respondent had four violations in the preceding 24-nonths
endi ng on Cctober 16, 1989.

10. On June 21, 1989 an Inspector fromthe Federal M ne
Saf ety and Health Admi nistration conducted an inspection on the
Val l ey Plant No. 7.

11. On June 21, 1989, Citation No. 3258150 was issued to
respondent. (ALJ Exhibit 1-(A).

12. On August 14, 1989, a section 104-b Order No. 3259254
was issued to respondent. (ALJ Exhibit 1-(B).

13. A proposed assessnent was issued to respondent on
Oct ober 16, 1989. (ALJ Exhibit 1-(C)

14. A proposed assessnment of $160 woul d not affect
respondent's ability to continue in business.
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Di scussi on

Section 104(a) non-S&S Citation No. 3258150, June 21, 1989,
cites an alleged violation of nmandatory safety standard 30 C. F.R
0 56. 14107, and the cited condition or practice states a
follows: "The "V belt drive that powers the primary crusher
not or was not provided with a guard. The crusher was operating at
the tine of this observation.”

The inspector fixed the abatenment time as 8:00 a.m, June
26, 1989.

On August 14, 1989, section 104(b) w thdrawal Order No.
3259254, was issued because of the alleged failure by the
respondent to provide a guard for the cited belt drive in
guestion within the tine fixed for abatement. The order was
termnated within 40 mnutes after it was issued after the
respondent provided a guard for the cited piece of equipnment.

Petitioner's Testinony and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Jimrie L. Davis confirmed that he conducted
an inspection at the respondent's mne on June 21, 1989, and
after observing that the primary crusher V-belt drive was not
guarded, he issued the contested citation. He expl ai ned that
there was a gate at the crusher location, but it was partially
opened and unl ocked. He identified photographic exhibits P-1
through P-6 as the cited crusher in question. The |ock was a key
padl ock, and the crusher was running and operating at the time of
t he inspection, and the crusher operator was in the crusher booth
approximately 10 to 12 feet above the crusher | ocation, as shown
in exhibit P-3 (Tr. 9-11).

M. Davis stated that the citation was non-S&S, but that the
unl ocked gate presented a hazard in that "sonmebody could get in
t hrough the pinch point of the V-belt drive" (Tr. 11). He cited a
violation of section 56.14107, because the guard was not in place
and a person could come in contact with the pinch point. He
confirmed that if he had found the gate | ocked with a padl ock
rat her than bolted shut, he would have still issued a citation
because MSHA's policy, as explained to him is that padl ocks are
not acceptable as guards. If the gate had been bolted, he would
not issue a citation. If the guard were in place around the
V-belt drive, and the gate were padl ocked, he would not issue a
violation (Tr. 13).

M. Davis explained that a bolted gate woul d be acceptable
in lieu of a guard around the individual crusher conmponents
because a bolted gate provides a barrier or barricade preventing
anyone fromentering the crusher area. A bolt with a nut inserted
into the gate to hold it together so that a wench woul d be
needed to renove it would be acceptable as a guard (Tr. 14).
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M. Davis stated that plant superintendent Jeff MGee, who
acconpani ed himduring the inspection, advised himthat the
crusher operator had the key to the padl ock, but M. MGee could
not explain why the gate was unl ocked, and he surm sed that the
crusher operator had done sonme work greasing, oiling, or checking
the crusher and failed to | ock the gate (Tr. 15).

M. Davis stated that he based his gravity finding of
"unlikely" on the fact that no one was in the crusher area at the
time he observed the cited condition, but he believed that an
injury would be "permanently disabling"” if someone had cone in
contact with the pinch point. If this had occurred, "an arm could
have been cut off or a leg. They would have been mangl ed up" (Tr.
16). One person woul d be exposed to the hazard while cleaning up
or greasing in the crusher area (Tr. 16).

M. Davis stated that he based his "nopderate" negligence
finding on the fact that the crusher gate was the only gate on
the property being used as a guard. All other noving machi ne
parts at the site were properly guarded with guards in place at
t he individual pinch points, and in view of this, he believed
that the respondent should have known that the crusher V-belt
drive should have been guarded (Tr. 17).

On cross-exam nation, and in response to a hypothetica
gquestion, M. Davis confirned that if he had a storage shed on
his property, he would prefer to secure it with a padl ock rather
than a bolt because he woul d be the only person with a key, he
could control access to the shed, and he woul d probably be the
only person there (Tr. 19). He confirnmed that in the nornmal
course of business, no one other than the crusher operator woul d
be expected to be close to crusher. He confirmed that he did not
see the key and did not ask the crusher operator about it (Tr.
21).

M. Davis explained that the use of a bolt provides a
barrier to the crusher area, and he conceded that any guarding
device which is easier to renove and replace would nore likely be
repl aced once it has been renoved (Tr. 24). According to his
training, one bolt would constitute a permanent barrier, as |ong
as it is the proper size and length so that it can be used with a
nut (Tr. 24).

M. Davis stated that even though the crusher operator was
in his booth, it was possible for soneone else to gain access to
the crusher, and this would pose a hazard. Although he made no
determination in this case that a supervisor would walk into the
area to visit the crusher operator, he believed that a supervisor
who is responsi ble for the safe operation of the crusher is
supposed to check it, and he could visit the crusher area with
the gate unlocked. If he were to travel inside the gate area,



~1957

near the unguarded pinch point, he would be exposed to a hazard
(Tr. 27). M. Davis confirned that he interviewed the supervisor
but did not ask himif he ever wal ked into the crusher area while
it was operating (Tr. 27). Wen asked whet her he made any

determ nati on that anyone else would likely wal k through the

unl ocked gate while the crusher operator was in his booth, M.
Davis stated that the only person present was the | oader
operator, and if he had observed sonmeone cleaning in the crusher
area, he would have issued an "S&S" citation (Tr. 28).

M. Davis identified a | adder shown in sonme of the
phot ographs, and he explained that it is used by the crusher
operator to reach his booth. He stated that the |adder "goes by
the place in question" (Tr. 28). He stated that a supervisor has
a duty to conduct a wal karound inspection of the crusher area
while it is operating, but that he would not have to wal k inside
the gate area to do this, and would not have to use the wal kway
into the crusher area if he were sinply there to speak to the
crusher operator (Tr. 29).

MSHA | nspector Robert Flowers, confirmed that he visited the
site on August 14, 1989, to conduct a followup inspection with
respect to the citation previously issued by Inspector Davis and
that he was acconpanied by M. MGee. M. Flowers stated that he
found the crusher V-belt drive unguarded, but could not recal
whet her the gate in question was | ocked or open. He confirned
that he issued a section 104(b) order because the crusher V-belt
drive had not been provided with a guard. Assumi ng the gate were
| ocked with a pad | ock, he would still have issued the order
"because in our training and everything, we do not accept | ocked
gates with a padlock as a guard" (Tr. 35). He would have accepted
a bolted gate as a suitable guard because "the guide is that
| ocked gates with a bolt become a permanent fixture" (Tr. 36). If
there were no gate, and there was a proper guard over the belt
drive, this would have been acceptable. The order was termn nated
after the superintendent installed a guard over the belt drive
(Tr. 36).

M. Flowers stated that he informed M. MGee that MSHA does
not accept padl ocked gates as a guard and that the belt drive
pi nch point needed to be guarded with a guard. M. MGCee then
i nformed himthat he had been instructed not to guard it and to
sinmply post warning signs on the gate. M. Flowers confirnmed that
the signs were on the gate. M. MGee then called his supervisor
M. Marshall Guth, vice-president for operations, and M. Flowers
spoke with him and explained MSHA's policy, and M. CGuth
instructed M. MGee to guard the pinch point. The guard was
fabricated with two pieces of expanded netal and it was installed
within 40 mnutes. M. Flowers found it acceptable (Tr. 38).



~1958

M. Flowers confirned that in the event he returned to the site,

and found a bolt through the gate, rather than a guard over the
belt drive, he would find this acceptable as long as it was a
proper bolt which required the use of wrenches to remove it (Tr.
39). M. Flowers confirmed that the crusher operator was in his
booth at the tine of his inspection (Tr. 40).

M. Flowers stated that in his experience as an inspector
enpl oyees who work on a crusher would generally inspect it to see
that it is operating properly, and woul d perform mai nt enance work
on it to replace mssing belts or to check for |eaks (Tr. 40). He
confirmed that he has observed a primary crusher in operation
and that people will inspect it fromtinme to tinme during the day
while it is running. If an enployee were to walk into the area of
an unguarded belt drive he would be exposed to a hazard while
i nspecting the crusher during any daily work shift (Tr. 41).

On cross-exam nation, M. Flowers stated that he was
standi ng on the wal kway next to the gate, but did not consider
hinself to be in any danger because he did not enter the crusher
area. Assum ng that the gate were | ocked, he could not have
accidentally contacted any of the crusher pinch points, and he
woul d have to go to a great deal of effort, or clinmb over the
gate, to reach any pinch points (Tr. 43). A superintendent or
anyone el se wal ki ng around the plant would al so experience the
same difficulty in reaching the pinch point area. However, if the
gate were bolted, rather than padl ocked, the amount of effort to
reach the pinch point area would be different because the
i ndi vi dual would have to obtain a wench to renove the bolt, or
he woul d have to obtain a key if it were padl ocked. M. Flowers
agreed that a guard would nore likely be replaced if it can be
replaced easily instead of with difficulty. He al so agreed that
there was no renpte way anyone could accidentally contact the
drive in question with the gate | ocked (Tr. 44).

When asked about the practical difference between the use of
a bolt and a padl ock, M. Flowers responded "it's that you have a
qui cker access to the area with a padl ock and a key than you do
with a bolt and nut on it. You can get in and out faster and
qui cker™ (Tr. 46). In response to further questions, he stated as
follows (Tr. 46-47):

JUDGE KOUTRAS: There is only one key and the operator
has specific policies and safety rules and controls,
limted access. Wuld that make any difference.

THE W TNESS: We still have accidents fromthis type of
i nci dent .
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JUDGE KOUTRAS: |f there is only one key and only one man has
access to it, he's up in his tower and the thing is padl ocked,
there is no way anybody can get in there. Is that right?

THE W TNESS: Shoul d be.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: |If a guy is up in the control tower and
there is one bolt in it and sonebody wanted to get in
it, all they would have to do is take a wrench and open
it up, and the fellow with the wench can get into the
ar ea.

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: This theory about one bolt as opposed to
a padl ock, does that cone fromthe notion that exposed
pi nch points and drives of this kind have to be

per manent|y guarded? In other words, instead of
guardi ng the particular "V' belt drive here, you take a
| arger guard, which is the size of a gate, and you put
it out by that. You put a bolt in it, and that's
sufficient. That provides a barrier from sonmebody
getting in there. |Is that the theory?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: And a padlock is not that kind of a
barrier then.

THE W TNESS: No.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: |s that policy witten anywhere, this
padl ock versus --

THE W TNESS: No.

MSHA Supervi sory I nspector Ral ph D. Christensen, Peru field
of fice, confirmed that he supervises M. Davis and M. Flowers,
and is aware of the citation and order issued in this case. He
stated that MSHA's policy is not to accept padl ocks on gates as
equi pnent guards. However, if the gate were bolted, it would be
accept abl e because "it becones a barrier"” (Tr. 51). He explai ned
that a padlock is not acceptabl e because an operator can readily
use a key and enter the area while a crusher is running, and that
in his personal experience he has found nunerous occasi ons where
the I ocks are not |ocked. He stated that when he was hired as an
i nspector in 1978, he was informed by his supervisor during his
orientation that a padlock is not an acceptable way of providing
a guard for a pinch point. He confirmed that he has consulted
with his district manager and with MSHA's chief of safety in
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Arlington, Virginia, and they confirmed that padl ocks are

absol utely not acceptable as a guarding device (Tr. 53). M.
Christensen stated that if the gate were | ocked and the belt was
not guarded "we woul d have issued a violation because our history
shows that they |eave the | ock unl ocked and people can enter into
the area at any tinme" (Tr. 53).

M. Christensen explained the purpose of a bolt as follows
(Tr. 54):

A. The bolt on a gate turns the gate and that fence
area into a wall, a barrier that's not readily

accessi ble for enployees to walk in there while it's
runni ng. They have to work on it to get in there,
perhaps |like a mechanic going in to service equi pment.
They unbolt guards to get in that equipnent, and we
woul d view this then as unbolting to get into the

equi pnrent to maintain it.

Q Are you assunming that the equi pnment woul d be shut
down?

A. They're required to | ock out before they go into the
area to do mmi nt enance work.

Q In other words, by "lock out," the crusher woul d not

be operating, right?
A. Right.

M. Christensen confirmed that in the event a bolted gate is
used to guard equi pnent such as a V-belt drive, if the gate is
unbolted, this would constitute a violation of the standard cited
in this case (Tr. 55).

On cross-exam nation, M. Christensen confirmed that bolted
guards are left off "all the tinme" and that people do | eave them
of f notwi thstandi ng any MSHA or operator policies requiring them
to be replaced (Tr. 55). In his opinion, access to a particular
area can be better controlled by the use of a bolt rather than a
padl ock because an enployee with a key can gain access into the
area any tinme while the drive is running, but a crusher operator
woul d not have a wrench because his duty is to see to it that the
crusher does not beconme plugged and that the material is flow ng.
Mai nt enance nmen would normally carry wenches. He estimated that
it would take 5 seconds to unlock a padlock with a key, and 10 to
15 seconds to renove a bolt with a wench (Tr. 56). The use of a
bolt would restrict access to a crusher operator who nornally has
no business in the area because a nmai ntenance man woul d generally
take care of the drive unit (Tr. 57).
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In the case of electrical |ockout devices, M. Christensen stated
t hat padl ocks are used instead of bolts because the electrica
boxes are designed for that purpose. If a box were designed for
the use of a bolt, the use of the bolt would be illegal because
anyone could renove the bolt at anytinme and the person | ocking
out the box with a bolt would not have control over anyone el se
renmoving it. By providing a |ock, the person |ocking out the box
has the only key and he is the only person in control (Tr. 58). A
crusher operator with a key can unlock the gate and enter the
area where the drive is running, and with a wench, he could al so
enter the area, but it mght take 10 seconds |onger to do so (Tr.
58) .

Oscar W Ellis, respondent's president, testified that he
has a degree in mning and engi neering fromthe University of
Arizona, and that he designed the primary crusher operation in
1980. He stated that the crusher platformis approximately 6 feet
long and 16 feet wi de, and he descri bed the equi pment |ocated in
that area (Tr. 62). He stated that the area was designed to
provi de adequate wal ki ng cl earances and that it has a 2-foot w de
wal kway around the equi pment to provide ready access to the
equi pment. He stated that "it would be stupid" for anyone to wal k
around that area with the crusher in operation because the pinch
poi nt woul d be dangerous, and he agreed that if soneone were to
circunvent the gate he could conme in contact with a pinch point
simlar to a situation where an attached guard is renoved froma
particul ar pinch point (Tr. 64).

M. Ellis confirmed that he woul d expect the crusher
operator to have a key to the padl ocked gate in question, but he
did not know who el se would have one. He confirned that a
superi ntendent or nmaintenance personnel would not have a nmaster
key to all of the plant |ocks because nany of the | ocks are not
associated with master keys. He did not know whether extra keys
to the gate in question would be available to anyone other than
the crusher operator (Tr. 65). M. Ellis believed that the
chances of someone being accidentally injured with the use of a
padl ocked gate or properly-desi gned guard over the pinch point
"is virtually zero" (Tr. 65). He further believed that the
possibility of any injury is greater by using a guard over the
belt drive because such a guard woul d probably wei gh 50 pounds
and sonmeone could twist their back lifting it if they were bent
over and picked it up the wong way (Tr. 66). He also believed
that someone would nmore likely replace a guard which has been
removed if its easier to do so (Tr. 67).

M. Ellis agreed that a bolt would be adequate, but he did
not believe that it was as safe as using a lock. He alluded to
equi pment guards used in quarries which are provided with hinges
and twi st locks by the manufacturer to prevent access to the
equi pnent. He agreed that if a bolt were taken off the gate, it
woul d be the sane as |eaving a guard off, and that it would need
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to be replaced. He confirmed that the only tinme anyone woul d be
in the area which was cited in this case would be for the purpose
of perform ng mai ntenance work, but the crusher would not be
running and it would be | ocked out. He confirmed that his conpany
policy is to have the gate | ocked and there is very little need
for maintenance in that area. The gates were part of the initia
design of the crusher plant and they were installed before the

pl ant went into operation (Tr. 69). He pointed out that he tries
to interpret MSHA's regul ations "as best we can" and that he
tries to provide a solution which is both practical and safe to
prevent accidents (Tr. 70).

M. Ellis stated that at the time M. Davis conducted his
i nspection he (Ellis) was unhappy that the gate was unl ocked and
that M. MGee was specifically instructed to nake sure the gate
was always | ocked in accordance with conpany policy (Tr. 71). At
the tinme M. Flowers visited the site, the gate was | ocked and
war ni ng signs were posted to enphasize the point to anyone who
m ght go into that area (Tr. 71). He was not certain when any
di scussion with M. Davis over the use of padl ocks may have taken
pl ace, and he believed that he had complied with the |aw and
shoul d not have been cited by M. Flowers in August. He also did
not believe that the use of a bolt rather than a | ock made nuch
sense because he woul d have better control over who would go in
and out of the cited area by using a |lock rather than a bolt (Tr.
72). He confirnmed that he now understands MSHA's theory with
respect to the use of a bolt, but believes that it is incorrect
(Tr. 73). He pointed out that there are many hinged equi pnent
guards in use in quarries which are held in place by tw st |ocks
and they are not bolted (Tr. 73).

M. Ellis stated that a supervisor or foreman is instructed
to make a conplete inspection of the mne every day, and that he
woul d wal k around the crusher area and talk to the crusher
operator. He could walk up to the booth by using the | adder, but
he woul d not step off onto the platform but would go directly to
the booth. He confirmed that M. MGee is also a mining engineer
and is a good and know edgeabl e superi ntendent and woul d not
tol erate any unsafe conditions. M. Ellis did not dispute the
fact that the gate was unl ocked when M. Davis conducted his
i nspection, and he guessed that soneone had gone into the area
but was careless after |l eaving the area and did not |ock the gate
when he left (Tr. 75).

Respondent's Testinmony and Evi dence

James Papenhausen, respondent's safety director, testified
that company policy requires that a particular piece of equi pment
be deenergi zed or | ocked out at its power source before any guard
is renoved so as to elimnate the chance of an accidenta
startup. He confirned that the respondent has disciplinary
measures, including discharge, in place which are used in the
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case of any enpl oyee violating conmpany or federal policies
regardi ng the renoval of guards in areas where they may be
wor ki ng. He cited an exanple of an enpl oyee who was di scharged
for refusing to wear safety glasses (Tr. 78).

M . Papenhausen stated that prior to M. Flowers
i nspection, the superintendent was instructed to |ock the gate
and the signs were put in place before that inspection. He
confirmed that after that inspection, makeshift guards were
installed to abate the citation, and approxinmately 3 days |ater
after tel ephone conversations and an exchange of correspondence
with M. Christensen, the guard was renmoved fromthe crusher belt
drive after the respondent was advised that a gate would be
acceptable to MSHA if the | ock was renoved and replaced with a
bolt. He confirned that this was done. He also confirmed that the
respondent also installed bolts on simlar gates which are used
at all of its mne sites to avoid being continually cited for
usi ng padl ocks. However, in addition to the bolts, the respondent
al so uses padl ocks in keeping with its policy (Tr. 80). He
confirmed that the signs are nerely to reni nd enpl oyees that they
are not allowed in the crusher areas in question (Tr. 81). M.
Papenhausen poi nted out, however, that the respondent operates
mnes in St. Louis, which are under the enforcenment jurisdiction
of another MSHA district, and in "exactly the sane situation" as
this case, and it uses padl ocks rather than bolts. One mine has
been in operation for 2 years, has had five or six MSHA
i nspections, and it has never been cited for using padl ocks and
the i ssue has never cone up (Tr. 87-88).

M . Papenhausen stated that in no instance has the
respondent ever guarded | arge plant areas with gates. The guards
are always in close proximty to the crusher equi prent and
encl ose a natural area inmmediately around the drive (Tr. 82). He
made reference to MSHA's "gui de for guardi ng" and pointed out
that the respondent tries to take into consideration all of the
guarding criteria in order to provide adequate guards (Tr. 82).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
safety standard 56.14107, which provides as foll ows:

0 56.14107 Moving machi ne parts.

(a) Moving machine parts shall be guarded to protect
persons from contacting gears, sprockets, chains,

drive, head, tail, and takeup pulleys, fly-wheels,
couplings, shafts, fan blades, and sinilar noving parts
that can cause injury.
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(b) CGuards shall not be required where the exposed noving parts
are at |east seven feet away from wal ki ng or working surfaces.

The facts in this case reflect that |Inspector Davis cited
the respondent with a violation of section 56.14107, on June 21
1989, after observing that the belt drive which powered the
primary crusher was not guarded while the crusher was in
operation. Although the drive was not physically guarded at the
drive location, the respondent had a well constructed gate in
pl ace at the entranceway of the platformarea where the drive was
| ocated. The respondent’'s policy required that the gate be kept
| ocked with a padlock at all times while the crusher and drive
were in operation, but at the time of the inspection, the gate
was unl ocked and opened, allow ng anyone to freely enter the
unguarded crusher drive area.

I nspector Davis established June 26, 1989, as the abatenent
date for the violation. Inspector Flowers went to the mne on
August 14, 1989, for a followup inspection, and after finding
that the previously cited drive was not guarded, and that "no
action was taken to correct the violation," he issued a section
104(b) order for non-conpliance. The respondent’'s credible and
unrebutted testinony establishes that the gate was | ocked with a
padl ock, and that the key was in the possession of the crusher
operator who was in his control booth which was el evated above
the crusher platformand physically separated fromthe platform
by the | ocked gate. The violation was abated and termi nated after
the respondent pronptly fabricated and installed a guard over the
crusher drive. Several days later, and after further contacts
with an MSHA supervisory inspector, the respondent was advi sed
that it could continue to use the gate as a guardi ng device for
the drive as long as the gate was secured by a bolt, rather than
a padl ock, and that this would suffice as a means of conpliance
with the standard. The respondent installed a bolt on the gate,
but removed the guard which had been installed over the drive,
and al so posted signs. The respondent also continued to use a
padl ock on the gate, in addition to the bolt.

The respondent takes the position that the use of
substantial gates with padl ocks, coupled with a | ockout procedure
to guard and prevent injuries at its crusher drives, the posting
of warning signs forbidding access to these areas, and severe
di sci plinary action agai nst enpl oyees who violate its policy in
this regard, is the nost efficient and effective nmeans for
preventing acci dents. Respondent suggests that in these
circumst ances, the use of padl ocked gates as a means of guarding
its crusher drives conplies with the requirenents of section
56.14107. The respondent also asserted that the drive areas are
in no-ones work area or even in the path of anyone who woul d be
travelling to the area to work, and that the equi pnent is | ocked
out for inspections and nmintenance.
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MSHA t akes the position the cited crusher belt drive was not
guarded at the time Inspector Davis conducted his inspection and
i ssued the citation. Although the evidence in this case reflects
that MSHA woul d accept a gate as conpliance with the guarding
requi renments of section 56.14107, even though the particul ar
equi pnent pinch point is not physically and individually guarded
at its immediate | ocation, MSHA' s position is that the gate nust
be secured with a bolt and nut rather than a padl ock

In Yaple Creek Sand & Gravel, 11 FMSHRC 1471 (August 1989),
Judge Morris found that a gate 4 to 5 feet from an unguarded
chain drive assenbly on a hopper feeder conveyor belt did not
satisfy the guarding requirements of section 56.14001
(redesi gnated 56.14107). In Wal ker Stone Conpany, 12 FMSHRC 256
(February 1990), Judge Fauver found that a stop cord | ocated over
t he unguarded portion of a conveyor belt tail pulley did not
satisfy the guarding requirenents of section 56.141001, and he
observed that the standard does not provide for the use of a stop
cord in lieu of guarding.

The evidence in this case establishes that the cited belt
drive was not individually physically guarded at the time of the
i nspection, and the gate which served as guard was unl ocked and
opened, thereby allowi ng free access to the crusher belt drive
area i mediately inside the gate. The respondent has conceded
that the cited belt drive was not guarded as required, and that
the cited condition constituted a violation of section 56.141107.
Under all of these circumstances, | conclude and find that a
vi ol ati on has been established, and the citation IS AFFI RVED.

Inits pleadings (answer), filed in this case, the
respondent asserted that the use of a guard | arge enough to cover
the particular drive in question would create a hazard every tine
it were renoved and repl aced because it would wei gh severa
hundred pounds and was extrenely bul ky, and woul d subj ect
enpl oyees to pushing and pulling injuries. The respondent al so
mai nt ai ned that requiring such a guard woul d rmake repairs
extrenely time consuming in requiring additional people and
equi pnment to sinmply renove the guard, therefore greatly
i ncreasing their exposure to any nunber of additional hazards
associated with lifting heavy bul ky objects. M. Ellis, who
desi gned the crusher operation, confirmed that soneone could
twi st their back while lifting the guard, but he estinmated that a
good substantial guard would weigh fifty (50) pounds.

In justifying the use of a padl ock, the respondent relied on
MSHA' s Cuide to Equi pment Guarding, and it included selected and
hi ghl i ghted portions of this publication as part of its answer,
and made reference to it in the course of the hearing. The
hi ghl i ghted publication | anguage reads as foll ows:
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The installation and mai ntenance of machi nery and machi ne guards
are governing factors in controlling and preventing acci dents and
injuries. In devising protection against noving machinery and
machi ne parts, the goal should be to make it as effective as
possi bl e.

An effective machi ne guard shoul d have certain charac-
teristics in design and construction. Such a guard
shoul d:

1. Be considered a permanent part of the nmachine
or equi prent .

2. Afford maxi mum positive protection

3. Prevent access to the danger zone during
operation.

4. Be convenient; it nust not interfere with
efficient operation

5. Be designed for the specific job and specific
machi ne, with provisions made for oiling,

i nspecting, adjusting, and repairing machine
parts.

6. Be durable and constructed strongly enough to
resi st normal wear.

7. Not present a hazard in itself. (Page 3).

It is recognized that a given situation--a
hazardcreating notion or action--may frequently be
guarded in a nunber of ways, several of which may be
satisfactory. The selection of a guarding nmethod to be
used may depend upon a nunber of things--space
limtations, production methods, size of stock
frequency of use, and still other factors may be

i mportant in making the final decision. Mving machi ne
parts, nip points and pinch points nust be guarded

i ndividually rather than restricting access to the
areas by installing railings. It is not the intent of
this guide to suggest which nmethod of guarding is the
best for a given situation, but rather to show that
there are a nunber of ways to guard each different
condition. This will be done by illustrating typica
situations which may be guarded by a variety of

met hods. (Page 4).
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Renmpot e areas protected by | ocation need not be guarded.
However, if work is performed at such |ocation as shown
in figure 5, the equi pment nust be deenergi zed and
| ocked out and a tenporary safe neans of access
(1 adder) provided before any work is started.
(Page 8).

MSHA' s Program Policy Manual, Volune |V, pg. 55, July 1,
1988, contains no reference to the use of padl ocked or bolted
gates as a neans of conplying with the guarding requirenents of
former section 56.14001. However, the policy does state the
followi ng: "The use of chains to rail off wal kways and travel ways
near noving machi ne parts, with or wi thout the posting of warning
signs in lieu of guards, is not in conpliance with this
standard. "

Al t hough the respondent's reliance on the information found
in the aforenmentioned guardi ng gui de may be considered in
wei ghi ng the respondent's negligence and good faith conpliance,
reject its reliance on this guide as an absolute defense to the
violation. | have reviewed a conplete copy of this publication
and | find absolutely no reference to the use of gates, padl ocked
or bolted, as an acceptable nmeans of guarding or conplying with
the guarding standard in question. Indeed, sonme of the |anguage
found in this publication seem ngly nmakes it clear that equi pnent
and conponents thereof which present a hazard nust be
i ndi vidual |y guarded by guards affixed to the particul ar piece of
equi prent rather than to the general area where the equi pment may
be |l ocated. See the |ast paragraph at page 3, which states "
it must be kept in mind that protective guards placed around the
movi ng machi nery should conpletely enclose the noving part and
shoul d be positioned so that the noving equi pment or pinch point
whi ch presents a hazard cannot be reached." See also the fifth
par agr aph at page 4, which states "Moving nmachine parts, nip
poi nts and pinch points nmust be guarded individually rather than
restricting access to the areas by installing railings."
(Enmphasi s supplied).

| have some difficulty conprehending MSHA's theory that the
use of a bolt and nut to secure a gate, as opposed to a padl ock
with a key, would make it nore difficult for sonmeone to gain
access to a crusher area where an unguarded belt drive was
| ocated. It seens to ne that the use of a padlock in a situation
where there is only one available key which is in the possession
of the crusher operator at all times, would limt access to the
hazardous area to that one individual, and woul d preclude any
unaut hori zed entry by anyone el se. However, the use of a bolt and
nut inserted through a hole drilled in the frame of the gate,
woul d al | ow any nunber of people with an ordinary or househol d
wrench, which | assune are readily available at rock quarries, to
readily access the area if they are so inclined.
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In cormenting on the permissible use of padl ocks to secure or
| ock out electrical boxes, |Inspector Christensen distinguished
the use of those locks froma padl ock used to secure a gate on
the ground that an electrical box is specifically designed to
accommodate the use of a lock, and the individual |ocking out the
box al ways has control of the key, thereby excluding anyone el se
from opening the box. M. Christensen stated that it would be
illegal to use a bolt to secure an electrical box, even if the
box were specifically manufactured to acconmodate a bolt. He
reasoned that anyone could renmove the bolt at anytime, and the
person who initially [ocked out the box with a bolt would have no
control over anyone who may renove it. Quite frankly, | fail to
see the logic in the rather contradictory distinctions made by
M. Christensen in the two scenari os presented.

The introductory statenment found on the first page of MSHA's
guide to guarding reflects that the information found therein is
i ntended to assist industry, |abor, and MSHA inspectors in
obtaining uniformty throughout the mining industry. On the facts
of this case, and notw thstanding the total |ack of any
references to the use of bolted gates as an acceptabl e neans of
guardi ng equi pnment, MSHA has apparently, in one district,
accepted the use of gates, as long as they are secured by a bolt
and nut, rather than a padlock. In order to achieve clear and
unanmbi guous uniformty, | would respectfully suggest that there
is need for MSHA to clarify and anmend its policy and gui de so as
to i nsure even-handed enforcenent anong its various enforcenment
districts. Further, if MSHA believes that the use of a bolted
gate is a recogni zed and acceptabl e neans of guardi ng an
equi pment area, it should consider adopting and incorporating
conpliance criteria as part of its Part 56 regul ations so that
m ne operators who are subject to civil penalty sanctions are
fairly and uniformy put on notice of what is required of them
for conpliance. The disclosure of information clarifying the
regul ation will serve the goal of enforcenment by encouraging
know edgeabl e and voluntary conpliance with the [aw. See ny
coments in Massey Sand and Rock Company, 1 FMSHRC 545, 554-555
(June 18, 1979), Commi ssion review denied, 1 FMSHRC (July 1979).

Al t hough the respondent has not specifically raised an
estoppel defense in this case, M. Papenhausen alluded to the
fact that another MSHA enforcenent district has not cited the
respondent for securing gates used to guard equi pnent with
padl ocks rather than bolts. Although | believe that MSHA shoul d
be consistent in the interpretation and application of any
mandat ory standard, the fact that one district has opted not to
cite the respondent under circunmstances simlar or identical to
those presented in this case, may not serve as a defense to the
violation issued in this case. See: Ferndale Ready Mx & G avel
6 FMSHRC 2154 ( Septenber 1984), and the cases cited at 6 FMSHRC
2159; J & R Coal Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 591 (1981); Burgess M ning and
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Construction Corporation, 3 FMSHRC 296 (1981); Price River Coa
Company, 5 FMSHRC 1734 (1983).

The respondent's suggestion that the cited crusher drive was
guarded by location is |likewise rejected. | find no credible
evi dence to support any such conclusion. Although the |ocation of
the drive may be relevant to the question of gravity or
negligence, it may not serve as a defense to the violation. The
cited standard requires the guarding of nmoving machine parts that
can cause injury. The evidence in this case clearly establishes
that contact with a nmoving crusher drive would result in serious
injuries. Although MSHA has not rebutted the respondent's
credible testinony that the crusher is |ocked out before any
mai nt enance work is performed in the area, and no one is usually
in the area when the crusher is in operation, M. Ellis did not
di spute the fact that the gate was open and unl ocked when
I nspector Davis conducted his inspection, and M. Ellis surm sed
that someone had entered the area but was carel ess after |eaving
and failed to lock the gate when he left. Inspector Davis
testified that M. MCee told himthat someone had probably done
some work in the area greasing, oiling, or checking the crusher
but failed to lock the gate (Tr. 15).

I nspector Flowers, an inspector with 12 years of experience,
i ncluding the inspection and observation of operating crushers,
testified credibly that a supervisor generally will observe an
operating crusher on a daily basis during each shift to ascertain
that it is operating properly, and that if he were to walk into
the area he woul d be exposed to a hazard if a belt drive were not
guarded. M. Ellis conceded that if anyone opened the gate and
wal ked into the area, he could get hurt if he contacted the
unguarded drive (Tr. 64).

Al t hough I nspector Davis failed to devel op any evi dence as
to who may have been in the crusher area when he found the gate
unl ocked, and failed to ascertain whether any mai ntenance nmen or
ot her personnel were in the area imediately prior to his
i nspection, M. Ellis confirned that a supervisor or foreman is
expected to make compl ete inspections of the plant each day,

i ncl udi ng a wal karound of the crusher area. M. Ellis also
confirmed that the crusher platformarea was specifically
designed to provide wal ki ng cl earances around the crusher

equi pnent, and was provided with a designated wal kway to provi de
ready access to the equi pnment. He conceded that anyone wal ki ng
around in that area while the crusher was in operation would be
exposed to the dangerous pinch points. Although M. Ellis
believed that it would be stupid for anyone to be in the area
with the crusher running, | believe that it could very well be
that this "stupid" individual was the sanme "carel ess” individua
who went into the area and |eft wi thout |ocking the gate. M.
Ellis conceded that |nspector Davis acted properly in citing a
vi ol ati on, and that
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the respondent violated the cited standard by |eaving the gate
unl ocked (Tr. 31, 42).

Al t hough the respondent has achi eved conpliance in this case
by installing a bolt in the gate used to guard its crusher belt
drive, it has gone one step further and continues to use a
padl ock as an additional means of securing the gate, and has
posted warning signs on the gate. The belt drive itself continues
to remain individually unguarded. It seens obvious to ne fromthe
record in this case that the respondent is not too enchanted with
MSHA's view that a gate may be used, as long as it is bolted, but
t hat padl ocks are unacceptable. Under the circunstances, the
respondent may wi sh to consider initiating a nodification
proceedi ng pursuant to section 101(c) of the Act, seeking a
variance to continue its use of padl ocks as a neans of achieving
conpliance with section 56.14107.

Hi story of Prior Violations

The parties stipulated that the respondent was issued four
viol ations during the preceding 24-nonth period ending on Cctober
16, 1989. The petitioner offered no further evidence with respect
to the respondent's conpliance record, and there is no evidence
of any prior guarding citations. Under the circunstances, |
conclude and find that the respondent has a good conpliance
record, and | have taken this into consideration in this case.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty Assessnent on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

The record reflects that the respondent operates a |inestone
m ning and crushi ng operation, and that it has nine enpl oyees at
its Valley Plant No. 7, including a superintendent and a scale

person (Tr. 76). | conclude and find that the respondent is a
smal | operator. The parties stipulated that the paynent of the
proposed civil penalty assessment will not adversely affect the

respondent's ability to continue in business.
Gavity

I nspector Davis' non-S&S finding was based on his concl usion
that it was unlikely that anyone could have been injured at the
time of the inspection because he observed no one in the crusher
area other than the crusher operator who was in his control
booth. Although it is true that anyone contacting the belt drive
could be injured, the respondent's unrebutted evi dence
establishes that the crusher is deenergized and | ocked out when
any work is performed in the area, that the gate leading to the
crusher drive area is normally | ocked in accordance wi th conpany
policy, and the key is nornmally kept in the operator's
possessi on.
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Al t hough the petitioner suggested that a supervisor or foreman
may venture into the platformdrive area where the crusher was
| ocated, Inspector Davis made no inquiries in this regard and
devel oped no evidence to establish the Iikelihood of anyone being
inside the gate area while the crusher was in operation. Further
I find no credible evidence to establish that anyone goi ng and
coming fromthe operator's crusher control booth by neans of a
| adder shown in the photographic exhibits would Iikely be inside
the platform area where the crusher drive was |ocated. Under al
of these circumstances, | conclude and find that the violation
was non-serious.

Negl i gence

I nspector Davis confirmed that he based his nopderate
negli gence finding on the fact that with the exception of the
gate which was used as a neans of guarding the crusher belt
drive, the respondent had guards installed over all of its
remai ni ng novi ng equi pment at the pinch points. Although the
respondent relied on MSHA' s guardi ng guidelines in concluding
that it could use a padl ocked gate as a guardi ng device, as noted
earlier, the guidelines made no nention of the use of padlocks,
and they indicate that exposed noving equi pnent pinch points
shoul d be physically guarded individually. However, | believe
that the respondent's negligence is mtigated by the fact that
MSHA has accepted a bolted gate as a suitable guard, and
conclude and find that it was not totally unreasonable for the
respondent to believe that padl ocking the gate with a key which
is normally kept in the possession of the crusher operation was
sufficient conpliance with the cited standard. However, since the
gate was unl ocked and open at the tinme of the inspection, |
conclude and find that the respondent knew or should have known
that the belt drive was unguarded. Under all of these
circunstances, | conclude and find that the respondent's failure
to exercise reasonable care to insure that the belt drive was
guarded while the crusher was in operation constitutes ordinary
negl i gence.

Good Faith Conpliance

I nspector Davis confirnmed that he fixed the abatenent tine
of June 26, 1989. However, no testinmony was forthconing fromthe
i nspector with respect to whether he specifically made it clear
to M. MGee that the use of a padl ocked gate was unacceptabl e.

I nspector Flowers testified that at the tinme he issued the order
the pending office file contained no inspection field notes
incident to M. Davis' prior inspection, and he sinmply relied on
a copy of the citation which reflected that the drive notor was
not guarded. M. Flowers confirnmed that M. MGee told himthat
he was instructed not to guard the belt drive and to sinply post
war ni ng signs on the gate, and M. Flowers confirmed that the
signs were in fact posted.
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M. Ellis testified that after the citation was i ssued, M. MCee
was instructed to insure that the gate was kept | ocked at al
times in accordance with conpany policy. M. Ellis was unsure as
to when Inspector Davis may have infornmed managenent that a | ock
on the gate would not suffice as conpliance with the cited
standard. M. Ellis explained that in his view, the failure to
|l ock the gate at the time M. Davis conducted his inspection was
"just like leaving the guard off" and he believed that conpliance
was achieved at the time M. Flowers inspected the site and
i ssued the order because the gate was | ocked and signs were added
to enphasi ze the point to anybody who might go into the area (Tr.
71). He al so explained that when the respondent was told that a
bolt would be better than a lock, it made no sense to him because
he believed that better control could be achieved by the use of a
| ock rather than a bolt (Tr. 72). M. Ellis also considered the
fact that various types of equi pnment are guarded by devi ces which
are hinged and secured by tw st | ocks provided by the
manuf acturers (Tr. 73).

The section 104(b) order issued by Inspector Flowers is not
directly in issue in this case and there is no evidence or
i nformati on of record as to whether or not the respondent filed
any separate contest of that order within the required tinme
period. However, the order is relevant to the proposed civi
penalty assessnment nade by MSHA in this case since it seens
obvi ous that MSHA took the order into consideration as part of
its proposed civil penalty assessnment, particularly with respect
to the question of negligence and good faith conpliance.

The evidence in this case establishes that the respondent
abated the order within 40 m nutes of its issuance and pronptly
installed a guard at the cited belt device. Wthin a few days,
the respondent was allowed to renove the guard, and in lieu of an
i ndi vi dual guard, was pernmtted to continue to use the then
bolted gate as a neans of guarding the belt drive. In addition to
the bolted gate, the respondent continued to keep the gate
padl ocked and posted with warning signs.

Having viewed M. Ellis during the course of the hearing, he
i npressed ne as a credi ble and responsi bl e saf ety-consci ous
i ndividual. On the facts of this case, and taking into account
the aforenentioned mtigating circunstances under which the
respondent continued to use a padl ocked gate as a neans of
guarding the cited belt drive, | conclude and find that the
respondent ultinmately achi eved good faith conpliance in
correcting the cited condition

Civil Penalty Assessnent

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the civil penalty assessment criteria found
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in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find that a civi

penal ty assessnment of $50 is reasonabl e and appropriate for the
contested section 104(a) citation which I have affirmed in this case.

ORDER

The respondent |'S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessnent
of $50 for section 104(a) Citation No. 3258150, June 21, 1989, 30
C.F.R [0 56.14107. Paynment is to be made to MSHA within thirty
(30) days of the date of this decision and order, and upon
recei pt of paynent, this matter is dism ssed.

CGeorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



